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For Ruby and Rosie










Introduction The Reverse Underground Railroad



CORNELIUS SINCLAIR WAS ten years old and he was trapped. He was stuck in the belly of a small ship bobbing in the middle of the Delaware River, a mile south of Philadelphia. A man had grabbed him from a spot near that city’s market an hour ago, shoved a black gag across his mouth, tossed him into a wagon, and hauled him here.


It was dark below the waterline, but Cornelius could see enough to know that he was not alone. Four pairs of eyes stared back at him—four other black boys.


Yesterday they had all been free. Today they were slaves, prisoners of a gang of child snatchers who planned to sell their lives and labor, most likely to plantation owners in the Deep South. If the boys’ abductors got away with this, Cornelius would spend the rest of his life as someone else’s property somewhere very far away. He would never see his family again.






Cornelius disappeared from Philadelphia in late August 1825, about eleven months short of the fiftieth anniversary of the signing of the Declaration of Independence in that city in the summer of 1776. So much had changed since then. The new nation’s population had tripled, topping ten million, its land area had more than doubled, and the number of states in the union had jumped from thirteen to twenty-four, all of them now latticed together by ever-expanding networks of roads, canals, and steamboat routes.


Slavery in America was changing too. In 1776, there had been enslaved people in every rebel colony, but by 1825, slavery was dead or dying in the North. Fewer than twenty thousand black northerners remained in bondage, most of them in rural parts of New Jersey and New York where slavery was on its last legs. In the South, it was a different story. Slavery remained profitable and popular there, and more than 1.75 million black southerners lived as slaves. Assuming office in March 1825, John Quincy Adams, the sixth president of the United States, presided over a union equally divided between free states and slave states, twelve of them apiece. The Mason-Dixon Line, which separated Pennsylvania—a free state—from Maryland and Virginia—two slave states—seemed to split the nation in two. It served, in the words of its recent biographer, as “the closest thing to a modern international border anywhere in North America.”1


Situated just forty miles north of that border, Philadelphia was one of the nearest free cities to the slave South. That proximity made its many free black residents attractive targets for professional people snatchers from the slave states. They preyed on the members of the city’s black community relentlessly, putting bull’s-eyes on their backs and prices on their heads. Cornelius Sinclair was one of dozens of African American children to vanish from Philadelphia in 1825 alone. By then, the city was without question the hub of American slavery’s newest and blackest market. Its gridded streets and tangled alleys were hunting grounds for crews of professional kidnappers who made their livings turning free black folk like Cornelius into southern slaves. Philadelphia had long had a reputation as a safe haven for people of color, and was home to the headquarters of the American antislavery movement. But it was probably one of the most dangerous places to be a free black person anywhere in the United States.


    The people these kidnappers stole could each fetch anywhere from $400 to $700 ($9,000 to $15,000 today) in Louisiana, Mississippi, and Alabama, three of the new territories and states rising up along the Gulf Coast. The American settlers swarming into that region demanded a bottomless supply of slave labor to cut sugarcane and pick cotton and would take almost anyone—including children as young as ten-year-old Cornelius. Buying some of their slaves from kidnappers may not have been their first choice. They had been forced to look to sources within the United States for their labor needs ever since 1808, when lawmakers in Washington had outlawed slave imports from Africa and the Caribbean—a major turning point in the history of slavery in America. Interstate slave traders worked hard to satisfy these settlers’ demand for black labor, bringing them thousands of American-born slaves each year from states like Maryland, Delaware, and Virginia, but planters across the Deep South always wanted more.


The more settlers were willing to pay, the more tempting and profitable it became for unscrupulous entrepreneurs to kidnap free people from northern cities, smuggle them into the legal supply chain, and sell them in this vast new southern slave market. These incentives left Philadelphia’s large and dynamic black community dangerously exposed, and by 1825 the city had become the center of an interregional kidnapping operation, the northern terminus of what we might usefully call the Reverse Underground Railroad.





This Reverse Underground Railroad and its better-known namesake, the Underground Railroad, ran in opposite directions but were mirror images of each other. On the Underground Railroad, enslaved people abandoned southern plantations and trekked northward, dreaming of new lives and opportunities in freedom. On the Reverse Underground Railroad, free black people vanished from northern cities like Philadelphia and were made to trudge southward and westward to be sold into plantation slavery. On the Underground Railroad, conductors like Harriet Tubman risked their lives and liberty to help black fugitives make these epic journeys. On the Reverse Underground Railroad, the conductors were kidnappers and human traffickers motivated by money.2


The volume of traffic on the two railroads was roughly the same. Each one carried hundreds of black adults and children across state lines each year. Both networks roared to life in the early nineteenth century to exploit what by then had become major differences in the legal status of slavery in the North and the South. Both were loosely organized and opportunistic. Both ran on secrecy and relied on small circles of trusted participants, forged documents, false identities, and disguises. Whether traveling from the slave states into the free states or vice versa, black voyagers had to hide in stables, barns, cellars, and attics. The direction of travel was different, but the routes taken by freedom seekers and victims of kidnapping like Cornelius Sinclair were often the same. They might even have passed one another on the roads from time to time.3


Most Americans know something about the Underground Railroad. Scholars have spent decades studying the strategies and tactics that Harriet Tubman and her fellow conductors and station agents used to help freedom seekers escape from slavery. Accounts by former passengers and biographies of former participants have spurred immense interest not only in Tubman but also in her many comrades and collaborators. Their achievements saturate popular culture. There are walking tours, television shows, and museums dedicated to celebrating the men and women who, in the words of the National Underground Railroad Freedom Center in Cincinnati, “created the secret network through which the enslaved could escape to freedom.”4


We know far less about the Reverse Underground Railroad. Its conductors and station agents worked tirelessly to remain untouchable, and the identities of all but a handful still remain a secret. Unlike Harriet Tubman, they never gave public lectures about their work or went on fund-raising tours. Only rarely do their names and crimes appear in surviving police files or trial transcripts, their low profiles the result of the years they spent in the shadows, protected by bribes, avarice, and indifference. Unlike legal interstate slave traders who sometimes bequeathed their papers to southern colleges and historical societies, the outlaws who built the Reverse Underground Railroad left no business records or bundles of private letters for historians to read and examine. They did not write memoirs or pose for paintings or photographs. Their homes and warehouses no longer stand.5


Yet these professional kidnappers left their mark everywhere. They stole away many thousands of free black people in the first six decades of the century, many of them children like Cornelius who were under the age of eighteen. Most of those kidnapped could not read or write and were never heard from again. Their families and friends searched, advertised, and petitioned. They waited in earnest for news, but usually nothing came. Beyond the meager ranks of a few Quaker-led antislavery societies, free black people in northern cities like Philadelphia had few white allies. White employers openly discriminated against African American job applicants, while city constables generally ignored people of color’s complaints and turned a blind eye to most white-on-black street violence. So when children like Cornelius went missing, their parents could rarely persuade mayors and magistrates to get involved. It was rarer still for anyone to be able to gather enough evidence to compel authorities to issue arrest warrants, search property, and interrogate suspects. Even then, experienced members of kidnapping crews knew what to do and what to say to talk their way out of trouble and get back to work.


Solomon Northup was one of only a few legally free people to experience the Reverse Underground Railroad, escape from southern slavery, and then return home to write about it. In Twelve Years a Slave (1853), Northup explains how, in 1841, a pair of well-dressed white con men lured him—a well-educated and prosperous musician in his midthirties—into New York City from his home upstate. In Manhattan they wined, dined, and drugged him, then sold him to an interstate slave trader in Washington, DC. Northup was forced onto a slave ship bound for New Orleans and sold in one of the city’s infamous slave marts to a planter who put him to work in his cane fields. Though the 2013 Oscar-winning film based on Northup’s extraordinary autobiography drew overdue attention to his ordeal, both the memoir and the movie offer distorted and perhaps misleading views of who the agents of the Reverse Underground Railroad were, whom they usually targeted, and how they made money.6


Northup’s experience was actually not at all typical. Most kidnappings were committed not by smartly dressed confidence men, but by poorer people who had never set foot in a fancy bar or restaurant. Most of the kidnappers active on the Reverse Underground Railroad were men, though some were women. Most were white, but a surprising number were black. They rarely approached highly literate, middle-aged men like Northup. They preferred instead to lure away poorly educated children with ruses that could swiftly separate them from their families. Very few of their captives traveled by ship to New Orleans. Instead, kidnappers forced most boys and girls to trek southward on foot in small, specialized overland convoys known as coffles, after the Arabic word for “caravan.” Their prisoners rarely ended up in showrooms or on the auction block, and were vastly more likely to be sold off in ones and twos to planters in the Mississippi and Alabama Cotton Belt who could not afford big city New Orleans prices.7





Unlike Northup’s experience, the full story of what happened to Cornelius Sinclair and the four other boys who went missing from Philadelphia in August 1825 has never before been told—and for understandable reasons. Cornelius was a child at the time and came from a hard-up family that was not the sort to leave behind traces in libraries and archives. This is a problem, of course, because historians need sources—and lots of them—to reconstruct past lives in ways that are fair and true. The stories and struggles of the many people who did not leave rich troves of papers, diaries, or memoirs often remain untold and unstudied as a result.


I have reconstructed the basic outline of this single episode in the long history of the Reverse Underground Railroad from a small packet of letters written to or from the mayor of Philadelphia and from coverage of later events in a single antislavery magazine, the African Observer. Historians have known about these modest sources for some time, but there is a lot more that is new here too. I’ve unearthed all sorts of treasures, buried within thirty-five archives in fourteen states and the District of Columbia. Among them: a plaintive missing-persons notice written by Cornelius’s grieving father; the handwritten notes of a trial that took place in Tuscaloosa, Alabama, to decide the boy’s fate; and a pair of letters in which one of his kidnappers asserted his innocence. Together, this patchwork of new sources makes it possible at last to properly illuminate the experiences of these five young riders on the Reverse Underground Railroad. Still, the tale told here has holes, and I hope readers will notice those moments when I have taken the liberty to speculate because the paper trail has run dry.


Any story about free children ripped from their families and swallowed up by slavery is worth telling for its own sake, but the remarkable ordeal that Cornelius and his four fellow captives endured demands attention for many other reasons. It serves as a pointed reminder that child snatching was frequent, pernicious, and politically significant in the first half of the nineteenth century, and that black freedom in northern towns and cities was achingly fragile. It demonstrates too the important role that the traffic in kidnapped free people played in spreading slavery into the Deep South and in fueling the American economy over the same period.
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Cornelius Sinclair’s parents rushed a missing-persons notice into the pages of the city’s most popular paper within three days of their son’s disappearance. Joseph Sinclair directed readers with tips to call at his place of work, a merchant house near the docks, where he was employed as a porter. Poulson’s American Daily Advertiser, August 13, 1825. (Courtesy of the American Antiquarian Society.)





The dogged efforts of all those involved in trying to save these boys and others like them from the horrors of Southern slavery also had profound consequences. That campaign and its aftermath would radicalize black communities across the free states, emboldening African Americans to embrace violence in the cause of self-defense and mutual protection as never before. The case would reshape the rest of the antislavery movement as well by encouraging white abolitionists to focus the public’s attention on the suffering of black families forcibly separated by slavery. Most immediately, outrage over the abduction of these five boys forced lawmakers in Pennsylvania to pass tough new antikidnapping measures. Those laws enraged southern slaveholders and set in motion a chain of retaliations that culminated in the passage through Congress of the Fugitive Slave Act of 1850, a bonanza for slaveholders that put the country on a collision course with civil war.


The events that unfold in these pages were the product of massive economic and political forces and would usher in a new chapter in the history of slavery and freedom in the United States. Yet this lasting legacy must not be allowed to obscure the urgent and elemental stakes of this particular story.


A ten-year-old boy and four other free children were dragged into slavery in 1825.


They would have to fight like hell to try to escape.










Chapter 1 Sanctuary City



SAM SCOMP WOKE early. He was a runaway from one of the last remaining slave plantations in New Jersey and had been bedding down in doorways all over Philadelphia for the last seven nights. The summer had been scorching, but a smart dash of rain overnight had finally, mercifully, cut the August heat. Hungry and stiff, Sam figured that an hour or two spent lugging barrels and boxes up from the docks would warm him up, dry his clothes, and earn him enough to buy a bun for breakfast.1


Most of the city was still asleep. The only real activity was down by the Delaware River, where a scrum of men and boys crowded the wharves looking for a day’s work. Clustered around one or another of the dozen or so oceangoing vessels wedged side by side along Philadelphia’s clogged waterfront, they hustled and hollered to try to catch each first mate’s eye. Only when they got his nod could they board and begin heaving heavy crates from a ship’s slippery wooden decks down onto sturdy carts bound for the city’s central market.2


Just fifteen years old, Sam was young and strong. He was used to hard work, but had been in Philadelphia for only a week. He did not have his own wagon or wheelbarrow, and he barely knew anyone. Finding work, even on the docks, turned out to be harder than he had expected, and white men seemed to be catching most of the breaks. One by one, each crew chief sent Sam packing, preferring to deal with experienced cartmen who had their own wheels, or with other dock boys who had already proven themselves on hundreds of other mornings just like this one.


So it seemed like a blessing when a light-skinned black man strolled over to Sam and offered him work. The boy’s benefactor said his name was John Smith. He told Sam that he had a delivery of “Peaches, Oranges, Water Melons &c” that he needed to unload from a small sloop at anchor out by the Navy Yard and then haul back to a stall at the market. The job would take no more than two hours, and they could use a wagon already waiting for them down by the ship. Could Sam help him out? How did twenty-five cents sound?3
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Dockwork was a major source of employment for unskilled laborers in Philadelphia in the 1820s. This image shows young black and white haulers jockeying for work near the Arch Street ferry several blocks north of Market Street in 1800. William Russell Birch, Arch Street Ferry, Philadelphia. Hand-colored engraving, 1800. (Courtesy of the Library Company of Philadelphia.)





Sam did not hesitate. As the two of them set off on the brisk mile-and-a-half walk to the Navy Yard, he might have begun to calculate what his morning wages could get him back in town. A quarter dollar could buy an armful of buns, and beer too, and who knew what else. Philadelphia’s market had it all, not just fruit sellers hawking melons, peaches, and oranges. If you knew where to look—if you poked around on the fringes of that grand outdoor bazaar on the high street—you could usually find food vendors hawking hominy and pepper pots, even roasted possum or squirrel, all of them selling for pennies.4


Sam was distracted and daydreaming, and his walk to the Navy Yard passed quickly. He was typically on his guard around strangers, especially white people, but he was hungry, and the prospect of easy money for light work had disarmed him. And besides, his new employer’s brown skin was only a little lighter than his own. John Smith was a decade older than his new assistant, yet slight and boyish looking. Sam could probably have bested him in a scrap, though a fight did not seem to be in the cards.


Smith was actually quite charming. If he had seemed a bit skittish when he’d first sidled up to Sam down by the docks, he had grown ever more at ease as they walked together down Front Street, leaving the city behind them. Anyone who came upon them that morning might have assumed they were longtime friends, or cousins, or half brothers out for some sort of dawn lark.


Not that anyone saw them. The riverbank was deserted as Sam and Smith hiked along, skirting scrublands and flower-filled meadows not yet swallowed by Philadelphia’s southward sprawl. They walked together for nearly half an hour, until finally several huge wooden sheds loomed ahead. This was the Philadelphia Navy Yard. Though small by European standards, this complex of dry docks housed several massive ships—all men-of-war—in various stages of construction and repair. As Sam and Smith approached, a rowboat scuttled out from a little cargo vessel bobbing in the middle of the yawning river and tied up to a small pier that jutted out into the water on one side of the yard.5


The man who now scrambled ashore to hail them was about twice Sam’s age, thirty or so, strong and sinewy. He and Smith obviously knew each other. He told Sam his name was Joseph Johnson, and he chatted idly with his two passengers as he rowed them out to the Little John to collect the fruit from the ship’s hold. Two minutes later, all three had clambered aboard, and Johnson introduced Sam to the Little John’s crew: Thomas Collins, a deckhand, and Bill Paragee, the captain. Paragee told Sam and Smith that he had set out refreshments for them belowdecks and beckoned them all to follow him and “take a drink” before setting to work.6


At the bottom of the stairs the four men’s friendly faces suddenly hardened to stone. Johnson shoved Sam to the floor and knotted the boy’s hands with rope. Sam began to howl for help, pausing only long enough to hear Johnson tell him that he was going to be shipped back to his master in Maryland. Sam roared at that lie—he was from New Jersey and had never once been to Maryland. You’re wrong, he told his captors, wrestling against the cords that now dug into his wrists. You’ve made a terrible mistake.7


Johnson was unmoved. He waited while the boy proceeded to shout himself hoarse. Then he moved closer, taking a “large Spanish knife” from his belt. For that brief moment Sam might have thought that Johnson was about to cut him free and release him. Instead, Johnson thrust the blade close to the child’s face and “threatened to cut his throat if he resisted or made a noise.”8


Sam swallowed the urge to scream, and watched, silently now, as his kidnappers went to work. Smith, the man who had baited Sam and brought him here, tied the boy’s feet. When he was done, Johnson told him to be off. Smith did as he was told, taking the rowboat back to shore and disappearing in the direction of the city. Johnson, Paragee, and Collins then hustled Sam into the depths of the ship’s hold, farther below the waterline. Using irons and locks, the men chained the boy’s legs to a pump there before returning to the deck and closing the hatch behind them. Sam was left in darkness.9


When the sound of the men’s footfalls receded, the whispers around him began. As Sam’s eyes slowly adjusted, he realized he was not alone. He could make out the shadows of two other boys, both shackled like him. He could tell from their voices that they were younger than he was, and he could hear them stifle their sobs as they told him who they were and what had happened. The older child was Enos Tilghman. He was ten years old. He seemed to be darker skinned than Sam, and said he worked as a sweep, cleaning chimneys in the city. The younger boy was lighter skinned and about eight years old. He had curly hair and said his name was Alex Manlove.10


Both of them had been stuck in this floating dungeon for many hours already. They could not be sure, but they guessed that a full day and night had passed since they had been lured to the Little John by the man who called himself John Smith. They were friends and had been playing together before falling for Smith’s promise to pay quarters for unloading fruit that didn’t exist.11


The next few hours passed slowly. The boys’ talk started and stopped, punctuated by fear-stricken silences whenever they heard noises overhead. Then, quite suddenly, they heard scuffling above as someone roughly opened the hatch. In the half-light, Sam caught a glimpse of John Smith’s face as he and Joseph Johnson pushed another boy down the stairs and tied him up in a corner of the hold. An hour or two later, sometime in the early evening, the same thing happened again and another boy arrived.


One of the new arrivals looked to be only a bit younger than Sam, maybe fourteen or just recently turned fifteen. He was so upset he could barely speak. Haltingly, he told Sam, Enos, and Alex that his name was Joe Johnson—coincidentally, the same name as one of their captors—and that he too was a sweep. The other new inmate was much younger, though a bit more composed. He told Sam that his name was Cornelius Sinclair, that he was ten years old, and that he knew Alex from school.12


Cornelius had been sitting outside in the city center earlier that afternoon when Smith had sauntered up to him full of talk about money to be made hauling peaches. Cornelius’s parents, both former slaves, had warned him to be wary of strangers like Smith. So at first he had refused the unsolicited offer of work, but for some reason that he could not now explain, Cornelius let Smith keep talking and eventually agreed to follow him to a back alley. There Smith overpowered him, fixing “a black sticking plaster” across the boy’s mouth and dumping him into the back of a small covered wagon, which took off toward the distant silhouette of a ship floating in the middle of the river near the Navy Yard.13





Sam Scomp was the oldest of the five boys chained in the hold of the Little John. He was not on the run from a master in Maryland as Joseph Johnson had claimed, but it was true that he was a fugitive slave. He was actually on the run from a slaveowner in New Jersey. On the day John Smith kidnapped him, August 10, 1825, Sam had been, by his own account, “but a few days in Philadelphia,” having fled across the Delaware River from his New Jersey master just a week earlier. New Jersey was still a slave state in 1825, home to the largest population of enslaved people anywhere north of Delaware. While slavery was nearly extinct in every other state north of the Mason-Dixon Line, New Jersey’s five thousand or so enslaved workers remained a vital part of its agricultural economy.14


Sam was born in Readington Township in late 1810 or early 1811, one of the 25 percent of black New Jerseyans who still worked as bound laborers. The name Scomp was Dutch and quite common in the state at the time, and Sam’s father and mother, Samuel and Rose, had likely worked for someone of that name at some point. By the time Sam was born, they were owned by John Kline, who was of German extraction. Kline was the owner of a prosperous tanners’ yard and a one-hundred-acre homestead in Hunterdon County, a farming community tucked away in the northwest corner of the state. A lifelong member of Readington’s Lutheran congregation, he was known by many as a modest and charitable man of “simple, child-like faith… who exerted a widespread influence for good.”15
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Sam’s first master was John Kline, a German American tannery owner from Readington, New Jersey. Kline was forty, married, and childless in 1824, the year he sold Sam to David Hill, a resident of nearby Amwell. James P. Snell, comp., History of Hunterdon and Somerset Counties, New Jersey, with Illustrations and Biographical Sketches of Its Prominent Men and Pioneers (Philadelphia, 1881). (Courtesy of the American Antiquarian Society.)





Like many pillars of this rural community, Kline owned at least half a dozen slaves. Several, including Sam, were technically his apprentices. In America, children born to enslaved women were typically condemned to a lifetime in bondage, but the Gradual Abolition Act passed by New Jersey state legislators in 1804 had moderated this matrilineal curse. Rather than serve as slaves for life, children born to enslaved mothers after 1804 were designated as slaves “for a term,” bound laborers whose legal status was more akin to that of indentured servants. Sam was one of these term slaves, required by law to labor for Kline until his twenty-fifth birthday. The same was true for Sam’s younger brothers, Frank and Peter.16


In practice, events cut short Sam’s quarter-century-long apprenticeship. In the fall of 1824, Kline decided to trade the remaining years of Sam’s term of labor to a neighbor named David Hill in exchange for a black woman “named Ebey and a two year old bull.” That winter, Kline sent the boy to live on Hill’s grain farm in Amwell Township, ten miles from Readington. It was close enough that Sam might still visit his parents and brothers from time to time, but far enough away for the separation to be painful, if not deeply wounding. At the time, Sam still had a decade of his indenture left to serve, and so had little choice except to do as he was told.17


Sam now belonged to David Hill, a young man not yet thirty. His father, Paul Hill, had come to the colonies from Scotland in the 1780s and had slowly built his first small farm into a modest but profitable estate. Deciding to use slave labor to grow corn, wheat, barley, and other cereals for sale at markets in New York or Philadelphia had made all the difference. This was not at all unusual in West Jersey. As one visitor to Hunterdon County noted in a diary entry in 1824, “almost every farmer has from one to half a dozen slaves.”18


Sam came to Amwell soon after Paul Hill died. Paul’s will, executed in July 1824, divided the little farm between his two eldest sons, Asher and David. Neither had inherited their father’s head for business, and the purchase of Sam’s labor from John Kline that fall was one of several extravagant early investments that David Hill made shortly after taking possession of his part of the property. With a rapidly expanding family of his own to feed and clothe, Hill found that his bills soon began to exceed the farm’s income. His debts mounted, and by the summer of 1825, just months after purchasing Sam’s labor, Hill and his wife, Maria, were looking for ways to trim their expenses.19


Sam must have begun to suspect that his new master might one day decide to sell him to someone else. Hill needed cash ever more urgently, but the local resale value for a young flight risk like Sam was limited. An out-of-state sale would be much more profitable, and there were always interstate slave traders passing through—enslaved people called them “Georgia men”—willing to buy a prime hand and then sell him to cotton growers setting up in the Deep South. The terms of an 1818 New Jersey law prohibited Hill from selling term slaves like Sam into lives of perpetual slavery beyond the borders of the state. And yet it happened all the time. Unscrupulous owners often colluded with corrupt county judges to produce fraudulent evidence that term slaves had given their consent to be sold out of state. Hill considered himself a law-abiding Christian man: he had been baptized and born again just five years earlier at the Baptist church six miles down the road from his farm. The Baptists took no formal position on the selling of slaves, however, and Hill needed money.20


Sam did not wait to discover his fate. He took to his heels, fleeing David Hill’s farm on August 6, 1825. With ten more years of bound labor on his indenture and a growing suspicion that Hill was preparing to sell him into lifelong slavery in Georgia or perhaps even Alabama or Mississippi, Sam saw no better option. But where to go? If he ran home, back to his family and his former master ten miles away in Readington, Hill would surely find him before the week was out.21


Sam knew he could not stay in New Jersey, much as he might have wanted to. The state’s free black population was small and lacked powerful white allies who could advocate for their interests. New Jersey’s only antislavery organization had disbanded back in 1809, a casualty of infighting and apathy. In the fifteen years since then, the free black communities scattered across this still largely rural state had lived under siege, deprived of voting rights by local lawmakers who seemed intent on making their lives miserable.22


Where else could Sam go? Most fugitive slaves ran north, but Sam’s nearest refuge lay to the south in Philadelphia, fifty miles from Amwell. A free city in a state in which slavery was in its final death throes, Philadelphia sat on the far shore of the Delaware River, a natural boundary and freedom line no less potent in the imaginations of West Jersey’s bound laborers than the Ohio River would later become for enslaved people fleeing northward from Kentucky in the 1840s and 1850s.23


Sam set out for Philadelphia. Countless runaways from New Jersey had made the same southward journey across the Delaware River in recent years. Sam had likely been to the city himself on trips with Kline or perhaps Hill to deliver wagonloads of produce to its market, but he had never been there alone and never on foot. The fifty miles from Amwell to Philadelphia was a vast distance without a horse. It took Sam several nights to dash and dart his way from Hunterdon County to Pennsylvania’s largest, grandest city, keeping out of sight as much as possible and searching for food wherever he could.24
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The distance from Amwell, New Jersey, to Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, is about fifty miles. Sam’s most likely route followed the path of the Delaware River, which divides these two states. (Digital cartography by Caitlin Burke. Courtesy of the GIS and Geospatial Services Center, University of Maryland.)





Sam arrived in Philadelphia alone, his face now perhaps a little more hollowed and angular than before. He was one of perhaps a thousand runaways who found their way to the city in 1825. Seeking asylum, they came from slave states to the north, east, and south, arriving in ones and twos, only rarely in family groups. Like Sam, most had chosen to run rather than let their mid-Atlantic masters sell them to cotton or sugar planters setting up along the Gulf of Mexico. Most arrived exhausted. Their feet were swollen, their limbs sometimes frostbitten, their bones sometimes broken. They usually carried with them little more than the rags in which they had fled.25


In Philadelphia, Sam joined one of the largest black communities anywhere in the United States. It was built out of little more than hope, a nucleus of freeborn African Americans around whom wave after wave of freedom-seeking migrants from the surrounding states had huddled. Buoyed by this stream of new arrivals seeking refuge from slavery, the black population of Philadelphia and its adjacent settlements tripled in the thirty years after 1800. In 1825, the year Sam arrived, it topped twelve thousand for the first time. Many among this number were children. Some, like Joe, Cornelius, Enos, and Alex, were free, native-born Pennsylvanians. Many more, like Sam, had fled plantations on their own initiative, usually to avoid being sold. As a result, the city seemed to teem with young black people. The 1820 census, which likely undercounted the transient segments of Philadelphia’s African American population, found that roughly one in three black people were under the age of fourteen.26


Young fugitives like Sam thought that these demographic facts made the city an ideal place to hide in plain sight. The 1793 Fugitive Slave Act empowered owners of slaves to cross state lines to hunt their human property wherever they might be hiding, and some slaveholders did not think twice before dispatching bounty hunters to recover their escaped chattel from Philadelphia. But others evidently regarded it as hostile territory, a sanctuary city in which their legal property rights would be vigorously contested. George Washington, himself the owner of dozens of slaves, once told a friend that recovering fugitives from Philadelphia “is not easy to do [as] there are numbers [there] who had rather facilitate an escape than apprehend a run-away.”27


In 1825, that was truer than ever. Many New Jersey and Maryland masters knew that paying to place runaway-slave ads in the city’s newspapers was akin to throwing money into the wind. David Hill seems to have reached the same conclusion. Sam must have looked over his shoulder a dozen times an hour during those first days in Philadelphia, but there is no evidence that Hill ever gave chase or hired slave catchers to try to hunt him down.28





Free from a master for the first time in his life, Sam spent seven days and nights in the city trying to find his footing. Over the years, many black refugees had made their way to the lanes and side streets “mostly inhabited by colored people.” Some struck up friendships and romances there, joined black churches, and landed jobs. Sam’s best bet was to do the same, to seek out other black faces quickly, and to try to find cover and company as soon as possible. He was an outlaw, after all.29


Things did not go as planned. If Sam knew of friends or family members who lived in Philadelphia, he had no luck finding them that first week. No one took him in. If Sam had once imagined the city as a land of milk and honey, reality soon began to bite. It did not take him long to realize that for all their advantages compared to bound laborers in rural New Jersey, free black Philadelphians still struggled mightily for even the most basic resources. No one except John Smith ever took him aside to ask him how they could help.


Sam’s most immediate challenge was to find shelter. Black people lived in every corner of the city, but most tended to cluster in the rough-and-tumble communities within or adjacent to the four poorest wards, a warren of dimly lit courts and blind alleys bounded by Pine, Fitzwater, Fifth, and Tenth Streets. These roads marked the boundaries of the first urban ghetto in the United States, and it was stuffed nearly to bursting. More than a hundred people could live on a single block. The poorest among them, like Sam, slept out on the streets, while those with more cash on hand might find spots in a cramped boardinghouse, which they paid for by the night. Slightly better-off residents, like Cornelius Sinclair’s parents, did only marginally better and got along by splitting monthly leases with extended family or friends in order to rent out rooms in shabby, foul-smelling tenements.30


There were few other options. Saving money was nearly impossible given the scarcity of good jobs open to black people. Women like Hester Tilghman and Amy Douglass, the mothers of Enos Tilghman and Alex Manlove, usually found themselves confined to grueling and prospectless drudgery as washerwomen or seamstresses. A few others secured positions as cooks or scrubbers in wealthy white households. Still, as one 1829 municipal report concluded, the wages these women earned in such occupations were “utterly inadequate to their support… particularly if they have children.”31


Their husbands fared even worse. A tiny minority of black men, perhaps one in ten, started their own businesses, socking away enough to eventually purchase their own homes and claw their way into the city’s black elite. A few more, perhaps one in five, snagged skilled work as blacksmiths or barbers, preachers or teachers. Most, though, were not so fortunate. They spent their waking lives hauling carts, sawing wood, picking rags, whitewashing walls, and digging wells and graves. These were unskilled, highly seasonal, ill-paid, and thoroughly unsatisfying jobs, some so awful that white men refused to do them at all.32


The other alternative was the sea. Elijah Tilghman, the father of ten-year-old Enos, was one of hundreds of black Philadelphians who took leave of their families to try to make their way as sailors on cargo ships in the 1820s. This was not a decision to be taken lightly. Laboring aboard the coasters that plowed up and down the Atlantic seaboard on trading voyages to Charleston, Savannah, New Orleans, or beyond was dangerous work, especially for black seamen. Most southern states barred black mariners like Tilghman from setting foot on their shores. Facing arrest, imprisonment, sale, and enslavement if they stepped off their ships, most had to remain aboard for weeks at a time. Black husbands and fathers like Tilghman chose to shoulder such risks anyway. There were few other options.33


Like Sam, most black Philadelphians were industrious and ready to work but lacked the opportunities to do so. The city’s shipbuilding and manufacturing industries were in the midst of a decade-long depression, while openings in other sectors were constrained by white “negrophobia,” motivated by fears about labor competition and interracial sex and marriage. A study conducted in 1823 found that “prejudice and pride” among white crew bosses prevented black applicants from breaking into 75 percent of occupations in and around Philadelphia. “Turnpikes, Canals, Coal-Mines, Brick-Making, Street Paving and Cleaning, which engage so many thousands give no employment to them, no relief,” the report concluded.34


Beyond the workplace, black children and their parents had to navigate a city that, for all its vaunted freedoms, was bitterly divided by racism. With each passing year, white working people grew ever more enamored of schemes to deport to Liberia or Haiti black neighbors they regarded as idle and worthless. At the same time, white juries, consumed by rumors in the press that the city was in the grip of a black crime wave, convicted African Americans accused of poverty crimes like theft and burglary at disproportionate rates. The same discrimination continued behind bars. According to one 1825 report, white prisoners in the Philadelphia jail refused to even sit on the same benches as black inmates.35


On the streets, the atmosphere in which Joe, Cornelius, Enos, and Alex grew up was thick with insult and injury. Attacks against black people and their property occurred almost daily. In 1819, three white women stoned a black woman to death, while in 1825, several white youths burst into a black church on Sixth Street and threw an exploding pepper mixture into its stove as the minister delivered his sermon. The smoke and fumes spread quickly, choking the two thousand worshippers and sending them rushing for the exits. In the panic, two church members were trampled to death and many others injured. These were not isolated events. Throughout the early 1820s, white thugs beat, robbed, or otherwise molested many black residents, knowing full well that city authorities were unlikely to prosecute them.36





Until they became targets for terrorists, black churches had served as important sanctuaries for their members. They were one of the few places in Philadelphia where this besieged community could gather, and chances are that one or more of the kidnapped boys had been among the congregants who worshipped regularly at Mother Bethel or one of the half dozen other black churches built in the city since the Revolution. Each week, parents brought their children into these sacred spaces to hear ministers like Mother Bethel’s Richard Allen preach against racism and oppression and to hear messages that stressed virtue, industry, and charity above all else. Over time, these all-black churches also took on other functions. They fed, clothed, and hid fugitives from slavery like Sam, and their premises also served as soup kitchens, employment agencies, and community centers.37


Black families like the Sinclairs and the Tilghmans were also responsible for establishing other anchors of black community life such as masonic lodges, schools, and mutual-aid societies. They joined groups like the Sons of Africa, the Benezet Philanthropic, the Benevolent Sons of Zion, the African Insurance Company, and the Female Granville Society (the latter named in honor of a British abolitionist). The members of these organizations did their bit for the cause of collective uplift, paying out dozens of small grants each year to help other struggling black households rise above poverty and degradation. Their efforts were not merely charitable. They were also avowedly political, designed to transform a group of refugee migrants fresh from slavery into a cohesive and self-supporting community of respectable citizens.38


Education was essential to these efforts, and Cornelius Sinclair and Alex Manlove, two of the boys John Smith would later lure away, were among the early students at the Adelphi School on Gaskill Street. Self-conscious of their own illiteracy, many African American parents believed that teaching their children to read and write was the surest path to prosperity, dignity, and respectability. So they competed ferociously to secure spots in the few charity schools for free black students that dotted Philadelphia’s neighborhoods. As a result, most were overcrowded. At the Adelphi School, sixty-five children of color packed into its single schoolroom before it moved to larger premises in May 1825.39


Cornelius seems to have thrived at Adelphi, though the instruction he received at this Quaker-funded free school was rudimentary at best. Adelphi’s curriculum followed the Lancastrian system, a low-cost British model that employed only one salaried instructor for dozens of children and that required older students in the class to monitor and mentor youngsters like Cornelius. They learned to write by copying the letters of the alphabet over and over—first in sand, then in chalk, and finally in ink.40


This rote work could be stultifying, and Caleb Kimber, the white man who served as Adelphi’s lone paid instructor, spent a good deal of his day writing up punishments for truancy, tardiness, and poor behavior in class. Expulsions from schools like his were common and many children simply drifted away before completing the curriculum. Cornelius was not one of them. Despite the tedious daily schedule and acute lack of resources, he proved himself a quick study. By the day of his disappearance, Cornelius knew the basics of both reading and writing, a rare set of skills among the city’s free black population, and skills that his own father, Joseph, a porter for a merchant house, likely lacked.41


By contrast, Alex Manlove was one of Kimber’s problem students. Eight years old when John Smith stepped into his path, Alex had taken classes at Adelphi when he was small, but grew restless and distracted and had quit after only a few months. At the time, Alex was living with his mother, Amy Douglass, in a rented property next to a burial ground on the southern edge of the city. His father, a white laborer named Solomon Manlove, had died in 1821, and Alex’s problems at school seem to have stemmed from his difficult relationship with his new stepfather, John Raymon. Alex detested Raymon and often acted out. When asked to describe his missing stepson, Raymon remembered Alex as a “bad boy” and expressed little regret when he recalled how city officials had taken this tall and scrawny child from his care sometime in 1824 and sent him to the almshouse.42


Philadelphia’s almshouse served purposes broadly equivalent to modern-day foster care. Its staff specialized in placing disadvantaged children like Alex in the custody of local craftsmen who could teach them a trade and perhaps some manners. In October 1824, almshouse officials indentured Alex to Caleb Carpenter, a mat maker who kept a workshop on Market Street. As Philadelphia’s racial divisions deepened over the years, these sorts of placements had become very hard for young black boys to come by, but Carpenter himself was African American and was willing to give this “cunning,” “uncommonly smart” boy a chance. Things did not go well. Alex did not want to make mats six days a week. He lied to his new master repeatedly and also stole from him, earning a flogging every time Carpenter caught him. When Alex disappeared in August 1825, Carpenter first assumed that the boy had finally decided to run away.43


Alex might not have admitted it, but making mats was not so bad. Most other black youths Alex’s age had to settle for dead-end jobs that required harder work in worse conditions. The largest, strongest boys might spend their youth fetching and carrying in Philadelphia’s lumberyards or brickyards. The only other alternative was sweeping chimneys for a living, arguably the dirtiest and most dangerous work in the city.44


Enos Tilghman and Joe Johnson, two of the other boys kidnapped by John Smith in August 1825, were both apprentice sweeps. Mockingly nicknamed “lily whites” because they were always covered in the blackest grime and were typically African American, climbing boys like Enos and Joe were familiar figures on the streets of Philadelphia. Master sweeps usually had two or three boys like them in their employ at any one time, the younger and slimmer the better. At dawn each morning, these boys would scour the city for sweeping jobs, hollering “Sweep O!” as they rounded corners. Clothed only in rags and the roughest secondhand garments, Enos and Joe, who worked for different masters but likely knew each other, would have been indistinguishable from beggars, save for the singing and the soot.45
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Enos Tilghman and Joe Johnson worked as apprentice sweeps before their abduction. Chimney sweeping was dirty and dangerous work that white laborers largely refused to do. Alexander Anderson, Alexander Anderson Scrapbooks. Wood engraving, n.d. (Courtesy of Print Collection, Miriam and Ira D. Wallach Division of Art, Prints and Photographs, the New York Public Library, Astor, Lenox and Tilden Foundations.)





Each sweeping job Enos or Joe found would have been pretty much the same as the last. Inside each house, young sweeps would tack up a blanket over the fireplace, strip down to their underclothes, and pull on a coarse cloth cap to protect their eyes. They would grasp the brushes and an iron scraper in one hand and then try to scramble up into the flue. The zigzag chimneys popular in fancier homes were surprisingly narrow, some as tight as one square foot. In a city still made mostly of wood, these chimneys had to be swept regularly to avoid causing fires, though the muck that Enos and Joe scraped out each day was almost as deadly. The soot itself turned young soft skin into hardened leather and left eyes red and raw. A few months spent working up chimneys was often enough to bring on a lifetime of breathing problems and significantly raise the chances of cancer and sterility.46


Enos and Joe had no choice but to put up with it. Unlike the many climbing boys who fled this slave-like drudgery by running away from their masters, Joe, who was about fourteen on the day he disappeared, worked for his father, a master sweep who lived on Elizabeth Street on Philadelphia’s south side and had done so for years. Enos, four years younger than Joe and very “slim built,” was serving out a seven-year-long apprenticeship to Samuel Murray, an African American master sweep who lived just around the corner from him and his mother. There was no getting away from either man, so they both stuck it out as best they could.47


Like most climbing boys, Enos and Joe lived in their imaginations. They spent their working hours fantasizing about the fun they would have when the workday was done and their time was their own. In the summer, the first order of business after any apprentice sweep knocked off for the day was to get clean and get cool. By late afternoon you could usually find a gaggle of them down by the Delaware River, horsing around in the water, looking for mischief and adventure—and for food. Used to begging for scraps from the cooks they met in the big houses they cleaned, Enos and Joe were exactly the sort of lads to jump at a stranger’s invitation to earn twenty-five cents in return for a little light work and a jaunt in a rowboat.48










Chapter 2 Black Hearts



JOHN SMITH, the man who abducted Sam, Joe, Cornelius, Enos, and Alex, was a phantom, a conjuring trick, and a chameleon. Smith was one of his aliases, a convenient, generic, and forgettable disguise. His real name was John Purnell, and he made his living separating children from their parents and trafficking them into slavery. While some of the other kidnappers who stalked Philadelphia’s streets in the 1820s targeted adults and children in roughly equal numbers, Purnell preferred to prey solely on boys under the age of sixteen. Their size, age, and marginal status made them perfect marks. While young girls typically worked indoors, their brothers were more often out and about unsupervised, and Purnell, surely found “slim built” or “slim made” boys like eight-year-old Alex easier to overpower or choke into silence than full-grown men or women. His snarled threats or the flash of a blade were more likely to intimidate children. Besides, if they owned freedom papers confirming their legal liberty, they rarely carried them with them.1


Youngsters were also more trusting. Although kidnappers still carried off dozens of men and women each year in the mid-1820s, most black adults had long since grown wise to their ploys. Children, even those with their wits about them, had shorter memories and less life experience. And the city was full of them. Some buzzed about on their way to and from work and school. Others loitered on street corners, or wandered the wharves begging for work and food. Runaways like Sam, who had no one looking out for them, were especially vulnerable. They were broke and hungry, used to living on filched vegetables, stale bread, and scraps. It did not take much to lure them away.2


Sometimes, all it took was the prospect of a full stomach. More often, con artists like John Purnell baited their traps with the promise of a few silver coins. They pledged handsome rewards to lads who could help fetch wood from across the river or pilot a vessel to some nearby wharf. On one occasion, a man posing as a ship’s captain coaxed a black girl aboard his craft “under the pretence of giving her some clothes to wash.” Likewise, in 1824, another child snatcher, a “yellow woman who called herself Tilly James,” succeeded in abducting Isaiah Sadler, a seventeen-year-old orphan, by inviting him to come live with her on an isolated country farm that she said her uncle owned. Highly skilled in what one antislavery activist described as the “arts of dissimulation,” Tilly James, John Purnell, and traffickers like them spun lies for a living, trading on false claims of authenticity to exploit anyone naive enough to take them at their word.3


Purnell, then, was one of the nation’s first professional con men. Philadelphia was teeming with strangers in the 1820s, and grifters seemed to be everywhere. They dabbled in every possible variety of confidence trick, though the fundamentals were always the same. Cunning, conviction, and a silver tongue were necessities. So too was the ability to size up someone quickly and project the illusion of shared identity and common cause. Purnell was a master at this, able to disguise his intentions behind an air of amiable harmlessness that was powerful enough to persuade people he had just met to follow him down quiet side streets and out of town.4


John Purnell’s greatest professional asset was, of course, his dark complexion. Black parents regularly pleaded with their children to be on the lookout for white “Georgia-men” and to stay away from corrupt white constables who might be in the pay of slave catchers, but most were loath to suspect someone who looked like Purnell of conspiring with white-led kidnapping collectives. That blind spot cost many black children their freedom. In 1815, for instance, two brothers, Peter and Levin Still, about six and eight, accepted a ride to church from “a tall dark man, with black and glossy hair.” They never arrived. Three years later, Philadelphia Judge Richard Rush sentenced an African American man named William Young to pay a large fine and serve “three years at hard labor” for kidnapping two black men and a little black girl and selling them to “merciless Task-Master[s]” in Georgia and the West Indies. The following year, 1819, a black man “decoyed another man of colour” from the city. “It is said he knocked him up at the dead of night,” Relf’s Philadelphia Gazette reported, “pretending that he wanted him to go and pray with a sick friend! The man is since missing.”5


Black women sometimes worked as traffickers too. When Pennsylvania authorities arrested Mary Brya and Ann Brown “on a charge of selling, or attempting to sell” a pair of young people into slavery in 1818, the two black women admitted “they have been engaged in this kind of traffic for several years.” The same longevity characterized the careers of three Baltimore women: Rachel Jones, Fanny Parraway, and Nanny, “an old black woman who lives on Fell’s Point.” According to an 1821 newspaper report, all three women had long been “in the habit of kidnapping other colored people” and then selling them to interstate kidnapping crews, one of which was led by Joseph Johnson, John Purnell’s employer.6


That longevity was a testament to the obvious advantages of black and mixed-race kidnappers. Boys like Sam, Joe, Cornelius, Enos, and Alex were more likely to trust an adult of the same race—or at least, to give that person the benefit of the doubt—than they were to believe the tall tales of a white stranger. They were also less likely to question unsolicited offers of work, food, or shelter when those offers issued from the lips of people who looked and sounded like their uncles and aunts. In fact, if white bystanders happened to witness a boy being beaten or dragged away by someone like Purnell, they might assume that they were simply watching an unruly child receive necessary discipline from a parent or family relation.
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White witnesses who came upon kidnappings committed by black confidence men like John Purnell may not have realized that they were witnessing a crime in progress. John Lewis Krimmel, “Worldly Folk” Questioning Chimney Sweeps and Their Master before Christ Church, Philadelphia. Watercolor and graphite on white laid paper, 1811–13. (Courtesy of the Metropolitan Museum, Rogers Fund, 1942.)





John Purnell was good at his job, and it is not hard to understand why Joseph Johnson hired him. Without people of color like Purnell to lure victims to isolated locations where they could be confined and overpowered, abduction attempts could easily go awry. White kidnappers acting on their own risked drawing excessive attention from bystanders or family members and all too often had to use violence to subdue their prey. When that happened, things could quickly get out of hand, and those operatives sometimes had to cut their losses and run. On May 22, 1822, for instance, Relf’s Philadelphia Gazette reported that one white “scoundrel [had] attempted to carry off a small negro girl on Sunday evening. [But] before he had time to secure her, she alarmed [the neighbors] by her cries and he fled.”7


Eager to avoid those sorts of spectacles, Joseph Johnson relied on John Purnell and a few other black collaborators to do his dirty work for him. The tight job market worked in Johnson’s favor. Recruitment must have been difficult, but the money was good, and Purnell used the cash he made by selling out street kids to feed his own children, pay his bills, and stifle his conscience. If caught, black kidnappers usually pleaded poverty as their excuse. In private, they were more candid. Believing he was speaking in confidence to a friend, Purnell once bragged that he could earn “from fifty to an hundred dollars in a Week” hustling boys like Enos and Alex aboard schooners like the Little John, a massive payday compared to the ten or fifteen dollars per week he might hope to make sawing wood or pulling a handcart.8


Men like John Purnell and women like Tilly James prowled Philadelphia’s streets almost daily during the 1820s, turning the city’s broad avenues and narrow lanes into hunting grounds. They made no distinction between those like Sam, who were fugitives from slavery, and those like Joe, Cornelius, Enos, and Alex, who were legally free. No one who might conceivably fetch a price as a slave in the Deep South was ever truly safe from their ruses and scams. Because of the furtive nature of their business, it is impossible to make an accurate count of the number of abductions in any given year. It is clear, however, that fear of kidnapping was ubiquitous, the one thing every person of color in the urban North had in common. The daily threat posed by white and black kidnappers alike haunted their neighborhoods, a constant and existential reminder of the limits of African American freedom in postrevolutionary America.





Philadelphia’s embattled black community lacked reliable protection from local constables, so their only hope to thwart predators like John Purnell lay in taking matters into their own hands. Families formed the first line of defense. Husbands and wives reminded each other to carry their freedom papers at all times and to keep them up to date. They also begged their children to stay safe when out on their own. At home each night before bed and again over breakfast the next morning, parents pestered their sons and daughters to stay in large groups, to read body language, to steer clear of certain streets, and to be wary of promises too good to be true. Out in the world, black adults tried to look out for the safety of the children in their community as best they could, forming de facto neighborhood-watch networks that shared information and intelligence. When they saw suspicious-looking white men who possessed the familiar “gallows appearance” of kidnappers and slave catchers, word spread quickly. Parents would hurry their children inside, while some brave soul crossed the street to inquire after the stranger’s business in the area.9


One summer’s day, Reuben Moore, “an orderly respectable colored man,” was walking down Market Street when he saw two white men dragging a black man along the road “by the collar.” Moore demanded to know what was going on. The men told him that they were legal slave catchers empowered by the 1793 federal Fugitive Slave Act who had apprehended a runaway. Their prisoner, however, said otherwise. He insisted that he was no slave and that he “had no knowledge of the persons who had arrested him.” Moore took the latter at his word and turned to go find a magistrate. As he did so, one of the kidnappers fired at Moore, shooting him in the chest and knocking him to the ground. It took emergency surgery to remove the ball and save Moore’s life. Another intervention, this time by a husband trying to prevent his wife’s abduction, was likewise thwarted when one of the kidnappers “drew from his side pocket a short bludgeon or loaded mace,” swung it at the would-be rescuer, and “at one blow… laid the poor fellow prostrate.”10


In the absence of courageous witnesses like these, most victims of kidnapping had to defend themselves as best they could. When two men started to batter down John Read’s front door, he managed to barricade it with a barrel of cider. This simple blockade bought him a little time, and when his pursuers finally forced their way inside, they found Read armed and waiting. He shot one man dead and pistol-whipped the other, leaving him unconscious. Lacking access to firearms, the vast majority of black Philadelphians fought back in other ways. Some clutched at doorjambs and handles as kidnappers dragged them from their beds into the back of curtained carriages and away into the night. Others bit and kicked. When one young woman’s captor leaned in to blindfold her, she “seized his cheek with her teeth, and tore a piece of it entirely off,” causing the man to scream and curse, though he did not let her go.11


The most effective way to free yourself from the clutches of a kidnapper like John Purnell was not to bite or spit but to shout and yell. Such howling usually drew attention, creating witnesses and alerting neighbors. That was why Purnell stuck a black rag in Cornelius’s mouth when abducting him. It was also why Benjamin Clarke’s wife ran “out of the house and screamed as loud as she could, ‘Kidnappers! Kidnappers!’ ” when a slave catcher came to her home to seize her husband. Within a minute, a dozen or more black people “prepared for war” filled the alley outside the Clarke home, blocking the only way out. The women inside neighboring tenements then flung open their windows “and let fly a general volley of brickbats” upon the head of the slave catcher, a corrupt city constable named Richard Hunt. Once Hunt “fell to the ground, bruised and cut,” Clarke ran for his life.12


Black people used violence to defend their liberty whenever necessary, but reserved their harshest treatment for kidnappers of color like John Purnell. In June 1825, just two months before Sam, Cornelius, and the three other boys vanished, black residents of York, Pennsylvania, got word that two “traitorous brethren” suspected of decoying fugitives were living among them. Unable to locate one of the men, a crew of “between 20 and 25” black people surrounded the other villain’s house and battered it with stones until they burst its windows and broke down the door. “Finding that his house would not answer as a castle,” the kidnapper inside was forced to surrender. His neighbors then “stripped and tied him, and gave him one of the most severe lashings ever laid on the back of man.”13


While rare, these acts of vigilante violence against kidnappers (and collaborators) of color served several important purposes within the black community. They were clearly punitive, designed to dole out a measure of justice to people who might otherwise evade it. They were deterrents as well, designed to make men like John Purnell think twice. And they were also markers of collective identity, public displays of the belief that antislavery solidarity should be a core principle of black life in freedom.14





In all but a handful of cases, the efforts of vigilante neighbors to tackle traffickers and intercede in kidnappings fell tragically short. Skilled operatives like John Purnell knew what they were doing. They had learned by experience how to operate in the shadows, how to do their work quickly and quietly, and how to hustle their captives away before anyone could save them. Usually, the only help that friends and relations could offer was after the fact. When intruders snatched Aaron Cooper from his Delaware home in 1811, all his wife could do was dispatch a posse of her neighbors to try to track him down. They came back empty-handed. Likewise, when Stephen Dutton’s ten-year-old granddaughter went missing from nearby Wilmington in 1824, his only recourse was to place a missing-persons ad in a local paper. In it he implored readers to look for young Eliza Boyce among “the droves of slaves” leaving the state each week for the Deep South and to get in touch with him, though no one did.15


Had either of these kidnapping victims lived in Philadelphia, their family members would likely have brought their misfortunes before the Acting Committee of the Pennsylvania Abolition Society (PAS), the region’s only significant antislavery organization. In a city in which interracial cooperation was typically rare and fleeting, relations between black Philadelphians and the all-white, Quaker-led membership of the PAS were surprisingly robust, the result of many years of close collaboration.16


Isaac Hopper, a Quaker, had been one of the first PAS members to earn the trust of Philadelphia’s African American residents. As a boy, Hopper had counted among his friends “an old colored man named Mingo,” who had often described his own experience as the victim of kidnapping and forced migration from Africa to America decades earlier. Mingo remained haunted by that ordeal and “wept like a child” when he told young Hopper how he had been “hurried away from mother, father, brothers and sisters, and sold into slavery, in a distant land, where he could never see or hear from them again.” Mingo’s tale came to haunt Hopper too. As a young man, he volunteered to teach black children in the city’s charity schools, and soon after chose to dedicate his life to preserving the personal liberty of Philadelphia’s black community.17


Over the next twenty-five years, Isaac Hopper helped, by his own estimates, about a thousand black men and women to evade or escape enslavement. He harbored hundreds of runaways, giving them meals, money, a place to sleep, and a wealth of practical and legal advice. He also fought to recover dozens of other black Philadelphians who fell victim to kidnappers, pouring his own time and money into rescue missions that were often dramatic and dangerous. Ruffians on board one departing sloop once attempted to throw Hopper overboard rather than reveal to him the contents of their cargo hold. As a Quaker, Hopper was committed to nonviolence, and on that occasion he avoided drowning only by grabbing at their coats. By such work, Hopper earned a reputation as an enemy of kidnappers, catchers, and slave traders. As a result, the city’s beleaguered black community came to regard him as a steadfast ally. “I will be your friend,” Hopper told one young fugitive who came to him for help, “and come what will, you may feel certain that I will never betray you.”18


Under pressure from black residents to follow Hopper’s example, his colleagues in the PAS agreed to investigate more and more disappearances and unlawful seizures in the first three decades of the nineteenth century. They began comparing the names of all the men, women, and children apprehended as fugitives within city limits against published lists of people in possession of freedom papers and launched legal proceedings to try to extricate those they thought had been wrongfully detained. At the urging of black people, these Quaker activists also lobbied state officials to enforce antikidnapping statutes and to empower law enforcement to pursue traffickers across state lines. There was always more to be done. In 1816, PAS officers set up a subcommittee on kidnapping to handle the growing caseload, and in 1821 they began recording the names of missing residents like Joe, Cornelius, Enos, and Alex on a master list.19


In the wake of almost every new abduction, black Philadelphians ran to Hopper and to other PAS officers to plead with them for assistance. Minutes mattered, so the boldest parents and spouses wasted no time knocking on members’ doors. Maria Jacobs interrupted Thomas Shipley, the chairman of the PAS Acting Committee, in the middle of dinner on a Sunday evening in August 1820 to beg his help finding her ten-year-old daughter. She told him she had seen a woman hustle the child onto a schooner two hours earlier. The ship had since departed the docks, and her daughter’s rescue now “depended upon [your] using dispatch.” Shipley’s dinner could wait, Jacobs told him. After describing her daughter’s physical appearance down to the last remembered detail, she insisted that Shipley ride downriver in an ultimately unsuccessful attempt to intercept the vessel before it could clear the estuary.20


Standing before members of the PAS Acting Committee in fury and in grief, people like Maria Jacobs demanded that this lawyerly organization engage in direct and immediate action to protect the rights of Philadelphia’s most marginal residents. The same men and women also pushed PAS officers to pursue longer-term lobbying efforts at the state capitol to assert a moral boundary between Pennsylvania and the slaveholding states that surrounded it. So insistent were they that in 1820 Pennsylvania legislators passed a new personal liberty law that agreed “to increase the penalties and forfeitures, for the crime of man-stealing.”21


On rare occasions, statutes like these could make all the difference. One morning in September 1822, a professional slave catcher named Jason Clark barged into a black family’s home on Arch Street and seized Ann Chambers, “a colrd [sic] girl,” as a suspected runaway. He shoved her into a carriage and sped off to find a judge who would issue him the necessary paperwork to legally remove her from the state. In the meantime, Ann’s parents tracked down two PAS lawyers who, in a hasty appeal before the same judge, challenged Ann’s detention and proved her freedom and right to remain under the terms of the 1820 personal liberty law. Hours later, Clark returned Ann to her home on Arch Street where the sobbing child collapsed into her parents’ arms.22


Happy endings like this were, of course, few and far between. The complexities of pursuing predators like Jason Clark and John Purnell across multiple jurisdictions ensured that successful rescues remained a rarity. Antikidnapping work was very dangerous—especially for unarmed Quaker pacifists like Isaac Hopper. It was also time-consuming and hugely expensive. The PAS required almost bottomless funds to support its investigators and pay sheriffs’ fees, registration charges, postage, and travel expenses. As its kidnapping caseload mounted steadily throughout the 1810s and 1820s, accounting for at least a third of all PAS business in this period, the society found itself stretched thin. In 1821, an internal report privately conceded that “the low state of the Funds” prevented PAS members from pursuing all of the “cases of Persons kidnapped from this City [that are] now under the Care of the Society.”23


PAS officers reluctantly closed the book on dozens of unsolved kidnappings in the decade before 1825, sometimes noting with regret that “justice cannot be done.” The parents, spouses, friends, and neighbors of these vanished persons found no such closure. Their sorrow was sharp and piercing, and it never went away. “PARENTS! FATHERS! MOTHERS! You know how to feel for those who have children,” Stephen Dredden, the father of two kidnapped youngsters beseeched the readers of Poulson’s American Daily Advertiser in 1817. “Although I am black, I have a heart like you, and they have pierced it thro’ with sorrow—they have stolen my children!”24


By 1825, despair like Dredden’s had become a condition of life that bound together Philadelphia’s twelve thousand black residents. Despite its reputation as a sanctuary from slavery, the city was a dangerous place to be African American. Professional traffickers like John Purnell treated it as a human stockyard to plunder at will. These ruthless men and women baited their prey with the prospect of easy money unloading ships, picking cherries, or clearing brush, ensuring that the freedom of young black people was in constant jeopardy.


The five boys in the hold of the Little John realized their own fate too late to escape it. When the ship in which Purnell had sequestered them slunk away from the Navy Yard and out into the Delaware River on the evening of August 10, 1825, they were quiet as mice. Over the years, a few abductions had been stopped when folks on nearby wharves heard children’s muffled cries issuing from the holds of departing schooners. But not this time. Terror had snuffed out any natural bravado or courage that Sam, Joe, Cornelius, Enos, and Alex might have possessed—at least for the time being. So too had the sight of Joseph Johnson’s knife and another snarling threat, this time from his crewmate Thomas Collins, to “make no noise or I’ll cut your throats.”25






The first missing-persons notice turned up in the pages of Poulson’s three days later, sandwiched between an ad selling a horse and a note asking after some mislaid spectacles. Cornelius’s father, Joseph Sinclair, had scraped together enough money for the ad to run three times that week, hoping it could jog some memories and produce some leads. “Boy Lost,” his ad read, telling readers his son’s age (“about 11 years old”), build (“pretty stout”), face (“left eye smaller than the right”), and complexion (“very dark mulatto”).26


When Cornelius had not come home that first night, his parents had assumed he was just acting out, sleeping over at a friend’s place perhaps. But now, after three days, the Sinclairs were frantic—“afflicted,” Joseph said. They were finally beginning to admit to each other that their dear son, their only child, was gone, “seduced away, by some evil minded person.”27
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